1988

Kip Quinn v. Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn and Fenton Quinn, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Must a claim against a decedent's estate sufficiently identify its basis and claimant in order to be considered a valid claim?
2. Does failure to file a valid claim bar the claim?
3. Was Kip Quinn's claim a valid claim for wrongful death on behalf of the heirs of Dawna W. Quinn?
4. If not, were the Respondents precluded from filing suit for wrongful death and obtaining a wrongful death judgment against the Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn?

TEXT OF AUTHORITIES

Utah Code Ann. §75-3-804(1)(a)(1975) (Text contained in addendum)

Utah Code Ann. §78-11-7 (1953) (Text contained in addendum)

Utah Code Ann. §78-11-12 (1977) (Text contained in addendum)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves purported errors by the lower court in allowing a wrongful death judgment against Defendants even though no claim for wrongful death was presented to the Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn.

The Estate of Dawna W. Quinn filed a claim against the Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn for personal injury on or about August 30, 1984. (R. 21-22.) The claim was disallowed, and on or about January 8, 1985, Plaintiffs filed an action seeking damages for both personal injury to Mrs. Quinn's estate and wrongful death on behalf of the heirs. (R. 2-4.)

On or about March 12, 1985, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that no claim on behalf of Mrs. Quinn's heirs was ever made. (R. 8-10.) This motion was denied by Order dated June 24, 1985. (R. 53-54.)

Plaintiffs subsequently obtained a judgment which included a substantial damage award for the losses suffered by the heirs of Mrs. Quinn. (R. 365-66.)

Defendants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on March 11, 1987.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Dawna W. Quinn died on or about May 24, 1984. Her son, Kip Quinn, was named as the Personal Representative of her estate. He filed a claim (hereinafter sometimes "Claim") for personal injury on behalf of the Estate of Dawna W. Quinn against the Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn, her deceased husband. (R. 21-22.) The Claim was made by Kip Quinn as Personal Representative of Dawna Quinn's estate, not as one of her heirs and not as the representative of her heirs.

The Claim was disallowed. On or about January 8, 1985, Kip Quinn filed a Complaint in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Civil No. C85-165. (R. 2-4.) The Complaint sought damages for personal injury on behalf of Mrs. Quinn's estate (for which damages the Claim had been properly filed) and also damages for wrongful death (for which no claim had been filed).

On or about March 12, 1985, counsel for the Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint, on the grounds that no claim for wrongful death had ever been presented or filed. (R. 8-10.) By Order dated June 24, 1985, Defendant's Motion to Dismiss was denied. (R. 53-54.)

Subsequently, Plaintiffs recovered a Judgment against the Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn which included substantial damages for economic loss and for the value of loss of society, love, companionship, affection and protection; all wrongful death damages for losses of the heirs. (R. 365-66.)

Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on March 11, 1987. (R. 372-73.) On or about June 9, 1987, Appellants received Notice from this Court that Appellants' Brief would be due July 20, 1987. By Stipulation between the parties, entered into July 10, 1987, the time for filing Appellants' Brief was extended to August 19, 1987. By Order entered by this Court on August 19, 1987, the time for filing Appellants' Brief was further extended to September 2, 1987.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Utah's Probate Code contains two sections prescribing the time and manner for presentment of claims against a decedent's estate. Those sections, Utah Code Ann. (1975) §§75-3-803 and 75-3-804, should be construed as requiring each claim to sufficiently identify both its basis and its claimant. The language of the sections themselves, as well as applicable case law, other legal authorities, and the purposes of the statute in

question, all support this construction of Sections 803 and 804. A claim "sufficiently" identifies its basis when it is clear and unequivocal, fully informs the personal representative as to what exactly is claimed, and gives enough information to bar a subsequent claim or suit on the same claim.

2. If a claim is invalid because of its insufficient identification of basis and claimant, it should be deemed the same as no filing. Failure to file a valid claim bars the claim and destroys the underlying cause of action. This consequence is not averted by actual notice of the claim to the personal representative.

3. Kip Quinn's claim failed to preserve a cause of action for wrongful death. Wrongful death and survival claims differ markedly from each other. Kip Quinn's claim was clearly a survival claim, not a wrongful death claim.

4. The Judgment entered below included substantial damages for wrongful death, even though the claim filed was not for wrongful death. Where, as here, there is a material variance between the claim and the cause of action sued upon, the cause of action must be dismissed.

ARGUMENT

I. IN ORDER TO BE CONSIDERED VALID, A CLAIM AGAINST A DECEDENT'S ESTATE MUST SUFFICIENTLY IDENTIFY ITS BASIS AND CLAIMANT.

A. Utah's applicable statutes require every valid claim to identify its basis and claimant.

Presentation of claims to a decedent's estate is governed by statute in Utah. The two governing statutes are Utah Code

Annotated (hereinafter "U.C.A.") §§75-3-803 and 75-3-804 (1975). Section 803 provides that all claims are barred unless timely presented. Section 804 prescribes the manner of presentment of claims.

Under Section 804, a claim may be presented to the personal representative of the decedent's estate, or it may be filed with the clerk of the court. In either case, however, the contents of each claim should include the following six elements:

1. Basis of the claim;
2. Name and address of the claimant;
3. Amount claimed;
4. If the claim is not yet, the date when it will become due;
5. If the claim is contingent or unliquidated, the nature of the uncertainty;
6. If the claim is secured, a description of the security.

The last three elements are conditional. They are required only in certain circumstances. The statute clarifies their non-essential nature:

Failure to describe correctly the security, the nature of any uncertainty, and the due date of a claim not yet due does not invalidate the presentation made.

U.C.A. §75-3-804(1)(a) (emphasis added).

This important sentence clearly divides the six elements listed above into two groups. The last three are specifically declared not essential to a valid claim, while the first three elements of Section 804 are impliedly identified, by their omission from the sentence, as essential to a valid claim.

A well established rule of statutory construction provides that the expression of one or more items of a class indicates an intent to exclude all items of the same class which are not expressed.

Pima County v. Heinfeld, 654 P.2d 281, 282 (Ariz. 1982).

The "class" of items in Section 804 consists of the six elements of a claim listed above. The statute's specific expression of three items in the class as non-essential to a valid claim implies that the three omitted items are essential to a valid claim.

This construction of Section 804, requiring as a condition of validity that a claim identify its basis, claimant and amount, finds support in the first sentence of the section:

The claimant may deliver or mail to the personal representative a written statement of the claim indicating its basis, the name and address of the claimant, and the amount claimed, or may file a written statement of the claim, in the form prescribed by rule, with the clerk of the court.

U.C.A. §75-3-804(1)(a)(emphasis added).

The underlined portion of the sentence just quoted prescribes the minimum content required in every claim filed or presented in Utah. If the legislature had not intended these elements to be mandatory, it could either have left them out entirely or included them among the non-essential items identified in the last sentence of the same paragraph. Instead, the terms were used to modify the word "claim" immediately preceding them.

In construing Section 804, this Court must assume that the underlined words were used and placed advisedly, Board of Education of Granite School District v. Salt Lake County, 659 P.2d

1030, 1035 (Utah 1983), and must give effect to all the words used. Durfey v. Board of Education of Wayne County School District, 604 P.2d 480, 484 (Utah '979).

The only reasonable construction of Section 804 which gives effect to all the words used in the section, is to require every claim, as a condition of validity, to indicate its basis, the name and address of the claimant, and the amount claimed. As shown below, case law and other authorities support this construction and provide a standard for determining whether a claim is valid or not.

B. Case law and other authorities' support requiring a valid claim to sufficiently identify its basis.

In Tangren v. Snyder, 368 P.2d 711 (Utah 1962), the Utah Supreme Court held that the statutory requirements of the contents of a claim were intended:

. . . to make a claimant set forth his claim with such particularity that the executor or administrator in passing upon it would be fully advised as to just what was claimed.

368 P.2d at 712 (emphasis added).

In order to be "fully advised as to just what [is] claimed", the personal representative must, at a minimum, be able to distinguish the claim filed from other, similar claims which might potentially be filed. This concept was expressed as follows by a leading authority on probate law:

The essentials are only that the claim advise the executor or administrator of the nature of the demand and the amount claimed, so as to enable him to act intelligently in the matter, and that it reveal enough and in such manner as to bar another action or claim upon the same demand.

Bancroft's Probate Practice (2nd Ed. 1950), Vol. 3 (hereinafter "Banc. Prob. Prac."), Section 805 (emphasis added).

In Ellis v. Cauhaupé, 260 P.2d 309 (Wyo. 1953), the rule is stated as follows:

[A] statement presented to the executor shall be so clear and unambiguous as to distinguish the claim with reasonable certainty from all other similar claims.

Ellis, 260 P.2d at 310, quoting with approval from 34 C.J.S., Executors and Administrators, §417 (emphasis added).

The cases and authorities cited above support the rule requiring a claim to identify its basis. Furthermore, they insist that a claim, to be valid, must be "clear and unambiguous", must "fully advise" the personal representative, and must "reveal enough to bar another action or claim upon the same demand".

As will be shown below, the purposes of statutes requiring claims justify these minimum requirements.

C. The purposes of Utah's applicable statutes would be advanced by requiring valid claims to sufficiently identify basis and claimant.

A statute is to be construed in light of its intended purpose. Stahl v. Utah Transit Authority, 618 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1980). Section 804, in common with other statutes prescribing the content of claims, has the following general purposes:

1. To protect the decedent's estate. See Schwarzschild v. Binsse, 365 A.2d 1195, 1198 (Conn. 1976); Nathanson v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County, 525 P.2d 687, 693-694 (Cal. 1974);

2. To facilitate the speedy, safe and definitive settlement of estates. See Motley v. Battle, 368 So.2d 20, 22 (Ala. 1979);

3. To allow the personal representative to make an early appraisal of respective rights of interested persons and a prompt settlement of demands against the estate. See In Re Estate of Feuerhelm, 341 N.W.2d 342, 344 (Neb. 1983); and

4. To bar claimants who are indifferent, careless or dilatory in their attitude. See In Re Clark's Estate, 432 P.2d 495 (Nev. 1967).

Requiring each claim to identify its basis with sufficient particularity promotes the purposes stated above. Such a requirement allows the personal representative to intelligently evaluate claims and thus protect the estate both from improper claims and from the expense of defending against proper claims. The requirement also facilitates the personal representative's efficiency and allows him to intelligently evaluate each claim and to determine whether to pay or reject it.

The significance of such a requirement can be readily seen from the purposes outlined above. Without a minimum content requirement, the claims processed would be fraught with uncertainty and risk, leading inevitably to increased delay, expense and litigation.

For the reasons set forth herein, Section 804 should be construed as requiring each claim, in order to be considered valid, to set forth its basis with sufficient particularity to satisfy the standard described in Subsection B above. For the same reasons, Section 804 should be construed as requiring each claim to set forth the name of the claimant.

II. FAILURE TO TIMELY FILE A VALID CLAIM BARS THE CLAIM AND DESTROYS THE UNDERLYING CAUSE OF ACTION.

A. Filing an invalid claim is the same as not filing a claim.

Utah's Probate Code requires the personal representative to accept or reject every valid claim timely filed. U.C.A. §75-3-806. In order to pass upon claims, the personal representative must be able to deal intelligently with them, understand their basis, and be able to distinguish them from other potential claims. If the personal representative is unable to carry out his functions because the basis of the claim is insufficiently stated, he should not be required to pass upon the claim. In other words, filing a claim which is invalid because it is insufficiently described should have no more force or effect than not filing a claim at all. Banc. Prob. Prac., §769.

B. Failure to file a valid claim bars the claim and destroys the underlying cause of action.

It is well established that failure to file a claim within the statutory period bars the claim forever. U.C.A. §75-3-803. In fact, failure to timely file a valid claim not only bars the claim, it also destroys the underlying right. Ray v. Rambaud, 438 P.2d 752 (Ariz. 1968). Neither the probate court nor an appellate court has any further jurisdiction to reinstate a claim not properly and timely filed. In Re Plank's Estate, 509 P.2d 812 (Colo. App. 1973).

The consequences of failure to file are not mitigated by notice to the personal representative. In the case of Estate of Jones, 588 P.2d 960 (Kan. App. 1979), the claimant filed a

creditor's petition for administration of the decedent's estate. Therein, the claimant described its claim. 588 P.2d at 961. However, the claimant never filed a claim in the form provided by statute. Id. The court held that the claimant's failure to file a valid claim barred its claim. Id. The court concluded its opinion with the following observation:

Nor is it significant that the administrator had knowledge of the medical center's claim. The administrator's knowledge does not dispense with the necessity of filing a demand.

Estate of Jones, 588 P.2d at 963.

Similarly, in Nathanson v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County, 525 P.2d 687 (Cal. 1974), the decedent's former wife timely filed a petition for family allowance and a request for special notice as a creditor of the estate. She then contended that since the personal representative received actual and timely notice of her claims and of her intention to prosecute them, she had a right to file alternative claims after the four-month period for filing claims had expired. 525 P.2d at 692. The Court, in rejecting this contention, stated:

We find no merit in petitioner's contention. . . . An examination of the purpose of the pertinent statutes . . . compels the rejection of the thesis that mere "notice" on the part of the executor or administrator of the claim or debt may constitute a sufficient basis for the presentation or filing of an "amended" creditor's claim after the expiration of the statutory period.

525 P.2d at 693.

A claim must be filed in order to preserve the claimant's cause of action. If the claim is invalid because it fails to sufficiently state its basis it may be rejected. An invalid claim

which is rejected does not preserve a cause of action.

Furthermore, the claimant may not rely on notice to or knowledge of the personal representative to supply defects in an invalid claim.

III. THE CLAIM FILED BY KIP QUINN WAS NOT A VALID CLAIM FOR WRONGFUL DEATH.

A. The claim filed by Kip Quinn was the only claim relied upon by Respondents.

Kip Quinn, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Dawna W. Quinn, timely filed a Claim for personal injury for and on behalf of the Estate of Dawna W. Quinn. A copy of the Claim is attached hereto in the Addendum.

No other claims were filed by Kip Quinn. Furthermore, no claims were filed by or on behalf of the heirs of Dawna W. Quinn. Plaintiffs relied solely and exclusively upon the Claim in pursuing their action for personal injury and wrongful death damages against the Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn in District Court (R. at 8-10, 23-28).

As will be shown below, Plaintiffs' reliance on the Claim was misplaced. The Claim was not a valid claim for wrongful death.

B. A claim for wrongful death differs substantially from a survival claim.

Utah law provides by statute for both a wrongful death claim (U.C.A. §78-11-7 (1953)) and a separate and distinct claim for survival of the decedent's personal injury cause of action (U.C.A. §78-11-12 (1977)). The two claims differ markedly from each other.

A survival claim perpetuates the decedent's claim for personal injuries suffered at the hands of the tortfeasor. Kynaston v. United States, 717 F.2d 506, 509-511 (10th Cir. 1983) (construing U.C.A. §78-11-12); Accord, DeHerrera v. Herrera, 565 P.2d 479, 482 (Wyo. 1977); Greene v. Texeira, 505 P.2d. 1169, 1172 (Haw. 1973). A wrongful death claim, however, does not seek compensation for the personal injuries suffered by the decedent; rather, it seeks damages for the losses suffered by the heirs of the decedent. Kynaston, 717 F.2d at 509; Herrera, 565 P.2d at 482.

A survival claim is an asset of the estate, which must be pursued by the decedent's personal representative on behalf of the estate, not on behalf of the heirs. Herrera, 565 P.2d at 482; Kynaston, 717 F.2d at 510. In contrast, the cause of action for wrongful death belongs to the heirs, not to the estate. Kynaston, 717 F.2d at 509; Herrera, 565 P.2d at 482. It must be brought by the heirs, or by the decedent's personal representative "for the benefit of his heirs". U.C.A. §78-11-7.

C. Kip Quinn filed a survival claim.

In light of the foregoing basic differences between survival and wrongful death claims, the first sentence of Kip Quinn's Claim takes on great significance:

Claim is hereby made against the Estate of Fenton G. Quinn by Kip Quinn, personal representative of Dawna W. Quinn, for and on behalf of the Estate of said Dawna W. Quinn for personal injury.

Appendix A (emphasis added)

The sentence just quoted states a claim for survival of the decedent's personal injury claims, not for wrongful death.

Kynaston, 717 F.2d at 509-511; Herrera, 565 P.2d at 482.

The second sentence of the Claim reads as follows:

The basis of this Claim is that on or about May 24, 1984, Fenton G. Quinn caused the death of Dawna W. Quinn and that said action was done in a willful and malicious manner with the premeditated attempt to cause the death of Dawna W. Quinn.

This second sentence is consistent with the first. Willful and malicious acts which cause personal injury resulting in death are the basis of survival actions under U.C.A. §78-11-12. Id.

The third sentence places a value of \$650,000 on the Claim. This might be considered too high for a survival claim. However, it must be kept in mind that survival claims for malicious torts (like tort actions generally), are unliquidated claims of uncertain value. The value of a tort claim depends on many factors, including subjective experience, the possibility of punitive damages, and others. The Claim filed by Kip Quinn tacitly acknowledged this uncertainty by tentatively assigning a value of "\$650,000.00 or such other amount as may be determined."

The Claim, as any other written document, must be construed in accordance with the ordinary and usual meaning of the words used. Pugh v. Stockdale and Co., 570 P.2d 1027 (Utah 1977). The Court is not at liberty to rewrite the Claim in order to preserve a cause of action for Respondents against the Estate.

Hal Taylor Associates v. Unionamerica, Inc., 657 P.2d 743 (Utah 1982).

Finally, in construing Kip Quinn's Claim, it must be remembered that Plaintiffs were at liberty to draft the Claim in any way they saw fit. They had three months in which to file a claim or claims. During that time, they had ample opportunity to become familiar with the essential elements of a claim for wrongful death and a survival claim. Those elements are well-established in statute and case law. If the Claim stated a claim different from what Plaintiffs intended, they have only themselves to blame. To the extent the Claim is uncertain or ambiguous, it must be construed against the drafter. Wells Fargo Bank v. Midwest Realty & Finance, Inc., 544 P.2d 882 (Utah 1975).

IV. SINCE NO VALID CLAIM FOR WRONGFUL DEATH WAS FILED, THE JUDGMENT ENTERED BELOW MUST BE MODIFIED OR REVERSED.

A. The Judgment entered below included substantial damages for wrongful death.

As discussed above, Kip Quinn's Claim was a survival claim. However, Plaintiffs' Complaint in District Court was for survival and wrongful death. The Judgment entered below included substantial wrongful death damages. (R. at 365-66; see copy of Judgment in Addendum).

Damages available in a survival claim are limited to those the injured party might have recovered had he or she lived. Kynaston, 717 F.2d at 511. Such damages would include loss of wages and medical expenses suffered from the time of injury to the time of death as well as funeral expenses. Daniels, "A Primer on Damages Under the Utah Wrongful Death and Survival Statutes", 1974 Utah Law Review, 519, 527 (hereinafter "Primer on Damages").

In contrast, the decedent's heirs in a wrongful death action can recover not only their economic losses, such as loss of support and loss of inheritance, but also their non-economic loss, such as the loss of comfort, society, love, companionship, advice, and protection. "Primer on Damages" at 526; Jones v. Carvell, 641 P.2d 105, 108 (Utah 1982).

The judgment entered below included substantial recoveries for elements of damages available only in a wrongful death claim (R. at 365-66; see also Jury Instructions, R. at 267, 268, 272). Since Plaintiffs never filed a valid claim for wrongful death, those recoveries must be vacated.

B. No Recovery Can be Allowed on a Cause of Action Substantially Different from that Alleged in the Claim.

A plaintiff cannot file one claim and then recover upon another. Banc. Prob. Prac., Section 901. In Ziegler v. Kramer, 573 P.2d 644 (Mont. 1978), plaintiff made a claim against decedent's estate for indebtedness for services rendered to the decedent. 573 P.2d at 644. The claim was denied. After initiating a law suit and conducting discovery, plaintiffs sought to amend their complaint to add a theory of recovery under gift causa mortis. Id. at 645. The Supreme Court of Montana affirmed the District Court's denial of plaintiff's motion, explaining as follows:

The four months' statute of limitation in Section 91-A-3-803 was enacted to expedite the closing of decedents' estates. The claims sued upon the District court must be within the scope of the claim presented to the executor.

Id. at 646 (emphasis added).

In Brown v. Midland National Bank, 435 P.2d 878 (Mont. 1978), the claim was for debt, but the suit filed on the claim alleged an oral contract to bequeath property. The court dismissed the lawsuit, holding as follows:

From the above authorities it is apparent that the test of whether a variance between a creditor's claim and a subsequent suit is material and fatal is whether or not the claim sued upon is within the scope of the claim presented to the executor. Looking at the facts of the instant case we find that the variance consists of a creditor's claim grounded in debt, and a suit based upon breach of an oral contract to bequeath the amount set forth in the creditor's claim. In our view, an action for breach of contract to bequeath is a material departure from a creditor's claim to recover a debt. . . . Only in the broad sense that both seek recovery of the same amount of money can the instant suit be said to be within the scope of the creditor's claim. We deem this insufficient as the basic theory of recovery in the creditor's claim is entirely different from that in the suit.

435 P.2d at 882 (emphasis added); Accord, Brion v. Brown, 340 P.2d 539 (Mont. 1959); and Neel v. Barnard, 150 P.2d 177 (Cal. 1944); Banc. Prob. Prac. §901.