1988

# Kip Quinn v. Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn and Fenton Quinn, Jr. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This action arises out of the murder of Dawna Quinn by her husband on May 23, 1984. On that day Fenton Quinn shot and killed Dawna Quinn and thereafter committed suicide.

Both the Estate of Dawna Quinn and the Estate of Fenton Quinn were admitted to probate in the Third District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah. On or about August, 1984, Dawna Quinn's son, who had been appointed Personal Representative, filed a claim for her death against the Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn. Notice to creditors was published in the Fenton Quinn Estate and the claim was presented within the three month limitation set forth in § 75-3-803 U.C.A. (1953, amended 1975). Appellants do not challenge the timeliness of the claim.

The Defendants disallowed the claim on December 4, 1984 (R. p.12) and at that time no request for clarification as to the claim or objection to its adequacy was addressed. The Complaint seeking recovery for Mrs. Quinn's murder was filed within the 60 day time period prescribed in § 75-3-804 U.C.A. (1953, amended 1975) on January 24, 1985 (R. p.2).

Prior to the filing of an Answer in this action, the Defendants moved to dismiss the Complaint on the same grounds as presented in this Appeal; that the claim, while timely, was somehow technically deficient. That Motion was denied June 24, 1985.

On December 21, 1985 the District Court granted Partial Summary Judgment (Appendix 6) in favor of the Plaintiffs and against the Defendants as to liability ruling that "Fenton Glade

Quinn, deceased, did, on or about March 23, 1984, unlawfully take the life of Dawna W. Quinn (R. pp 132, 133). Thereafter the issue of damages was tried to a jury on December 16, 1986 and judgment entered in accordance with their findings in a total sum of \$451,476.00 (Appendix 7, R. pp.365, 366).

The Defendants do not appeal from the sufficiency or propriety of that judgment, but simply the technical sufficiency of the original claim.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Two claims and a Petition describing the Plaintiff's cause were timely submitted to the Defendants. These complied with §§ 75-3-803 and 75-3-804 U.C.A. (1953, amended 1975). The claims were timely filed and delivered with descriptions of the nature of the claims. The claims were also signed by Kip Quinn, Personal Representative of the Estate of Dawna W. Quinn or his attorney; setting forth the full name and address as well as the amount claimed. The claims also designate, with reasonable specificity, the fact that it was based upon Mr. Quinn's murder of his wife (Appendix 1).

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I.**

#### **PLAINTIFFS FILED A VALID CLAIM WHICH WAS TIMELY AND INTOTAL COMPLIANCE WITH THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS**

Section 75-3-803(a) specifies tha creditors' claims against an Estate are barred unless presented within three months of the

date of first publication of notice to creditors if that is given. The date of first publication of notice in the Estate of Fenton Glade Quinn was July 7, 1984. There is no contention that the claims, Appendix 1 and 2, were not filed within this prescribed period.

Section 75-3-804 U.C.A. (1953, amended 1975) sets forth the manner of presentation of claims (Appendix 8).

Subsection (a) of that Statute states in part:

"The claimant may deliver or mail to the Personal Representative a written statement of the claim indicating its basis, the name and address of the claimant, and the amount claimed, or may file a written statement of the claim, in the form prescribed by rule, with the clerk of the court . . ." Failure to describe correctly the security, the nature of any uncertainty, and the due date of a claim not yet due does not invalidate the presentation made. (emphasis added)

The claims (Appendix 1 and 2) identified that it was being made by the Personal Representative of the Estate of Dawna Quinn. They further state that the claim is based upon Mr. Quinn causing the death of Dawna Quinn; specifies designated amounts or as may otherwise be determined at trial; is signed by Kip Quinn, the appointed Personal Representative of the Estate of Dawna Quinn and his attorney; and gives the address of Kip Quinn and his attorney. The claims were mailed to Fenton Quinn, Jr., the Personal Representative of the Estate of Fenton Quinn and filed with the Court, as well as mailed to the attorney representing that Estate, Kent Ludlow. All of the operative requirements of the Statute were contained in the claim.

Defendants disallowed the claims on December 4, 1984. Section 75-3-806 U.C.A. (1953, amended 1975) provides that a



Court proceeding must be commenced within 60 days after such disallowance. The Complaint in this action was filed January 24, 1985 (R. p.2), well within the framework provided.

The entire thrust of the Appellant's Brief in this case is not that the claim was not timely filed or set forth the requirements of the Statute, but that it must delineate the statutory basis for recovery (such as wrongful death and survival statutes) as well as all legal theories upon which the creditor relies. In fact, the Appellant urges this Court to judicially alter the express language of § 75-3-804, which specifically provides that such detail is unnecessary, and impose upon the creditor the requirement that the claim assume the form of a complaint or legal memoranda. Such is not now nor has it ever been the purpose of the claim requirement. In fact, within the time allowed, Defendant was served a Petition describing Plaintiff's claim in order to determine the sequence of death (Appendix 5).

It goes without saying that the Appellants were acutely aware of the tragic circumstances which resulted in Mrs. Quinn's murder and Mr. Quinn's suicide. The Appellant's position relies on the mistaken assumption that the claim must specify the statutory basis upon which recovery is claimed rather than make a good faith attempt to notify the Personal Representative of the nature of the claim so that the Personal Representative may make a determination as to whether or not the claim should be allowed or rejected.

The claim which was filed by Kip Quinn made no attempt to designate a specific statute as a source of recovery, but was notice of a claim for the unlawful murder of his mother as required by the Utah Probate Code. The Complaint filed sets forth causes of action under both the survival statute, § 78-11-7 U.C.A. (1953) and § 78-11-12 U.C.A. (1953, amended 1977). Both of these statutes expressly provide that the cause of action is vested in the Personal Representative, Kip Quinn. Since the cause of action is vested by statute with the Personal Representative, the claim was properly signed and filed by the Personal Representative on behalf of the heirs.

Defendant never requested a clarification or explanation of the claims in their denials (Appendix 3 and 4) and certainly knew what happened and the surrounding basis for its submission.

The purpose of a claim is to expedite the efficient administration of the Estate and collection of just claims. The Editorial Board Comment to Part 8 of the Utah Probate Code, U.C.A. Vol. 8A, 1978, pp. 185, 186 provides:

"A need for uniformity of law regarding creditors' claims against estates is especially strong. Commercial and consumer credit depends upon efficient collection procedures. The cost of credit is pushed up by the cost of credit life insurance which becomes a practical necessity for lenders unwilling to bear the expense of understanding or utilizing the cumbersome collection procedures found in 50 codes of probate.

The sections which follow facilitate collection of claims against decedents in several ways. First a simple written statement mailed to the Personal Representative is a sufficient 'claim'."(emphasis added)

In **Tangren v. Snyder**, 13 Utah 2d 95, 368 P.2d 711 (1962) an attorney filed a claim on behalf of the Personal Representative

of a foreign estate and the claim was challenged on the basis that the representative had not qualified in this state (and was therefore not able to bring an action to enforce the claim) in that the Affidavit did not specify why the foreign representative, himself, was making the claim rather than the Personal Representative. This Court stated, at Page 97:

"We are of the opinion that the statutory requirements of the contents of the claim and affidavit in support thereof should be liberally construed and that such statutes were, as stated in United States Fidelity and Guarantee Company v. Keck (citation omitted) 'not intended to make it easier to avoid payment of a just claim, but were intended to make a claimant set forth his claim with such particularity that the executor or administrator in passing upon it would be fully advised as to just what was claimed . . .'"

In Peterson v. Jones, 15 Utah 2d 121, 396 P.2d 748 (1964) a lower court dismissed the Complaint because there had been no prior determination of heirship. This Court reversed determining there was no requirement to determine the heirs prior to the filing of a claim or commencing an action. Often, in fact, this would be impossible because of the strict time limitations set forth in the Probate Code.

The Personal Representative of the Estate of Dawna Quinn, her son, filed claims in this action because the Personal Representatives is one of the entities to whom the claim belongs and who is statutorial authorized to pursue it. In Switzer v. Reynolds, Utah, 606 P.2d 244 (1980) the proper party for bringing an action under the Wrongful Death Act, § 78-11-7 U.C.A. (1953) is:

"The actions must be brought in the name of the persons upon whom the right is conferred by statute."

The Court went on further to add:

"Whether the action be prosecuted by the Personal Representative or one or more of the heirs, it is for the benefit of all the heirs and all heirs are bound thereby."

As dictated by this authority and the statute, the Personal Representative is the statutory trustee for all of the heirs and since the heirs need not be named as specific parties in the action itself, Parmley v. Pleasant Valley Coal Company, Utah, 228 P.557 (1924) they are certainly not an essential element of the claim itself.